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12. Location

[ nla Jnot for publicationstreet &number 104 Cedar1760 8. 2nd 81.: 757 8. 2nd 8t

city or town -->/.S-'-'-t.--"L""o'-"u"'is'--- [nla] vicinity

state Missouri code MO_county St. Louis [Independent City] code---.ilQ.zip code 63101

13. State/Federal Agency Certification
As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Ac~ as amended, I hereby certify that this [x 1nomination [ ] request for
detennination of eligibility meals the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meels the
procedural and professional requiremenls set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property [x Jmeals [ ] does not meet the National
Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant [ 1nationally [ Jstatewide [x Jlocally. (Sea continuation sheet for
additional commenls [ l-J

Missouri Department of Natural Resources
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [ Jmeels [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria.
(See continuation sheel for additional commenls [ J.J

Signature of certifying officialmtle

State or Federal agency and bureau

[4. National ParK Service Certification

I hereby certify that the property is:
Signature of the Keeper Date of Action

[ 1entered in the National Register
See continuation sheet [ I.

[ Jdetermined eligible for the National Register
See continuation sheet [ I.

[ Jdetermined not eligible for the National Register.
[ I removed from the National Register
[ J other, explain see continuation sheet [ ].
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IS.Classification
Ownership of Property

[x] private
[J public.Jocal
[J public-state
IJ public-Federal

Category of Property

[ ] building(s)
[x] Jlslrict
[ Jsite
[Jstructure
[J object

Number of Resource. within Property
COfltnbuting noncontributing

7 0 building

0 0 sites

0 0 structures

0 0 objects

7 0 total

Name of related multiple property listing.

(nla)

16. Function or Use

Historic Function

INDUSTRY: manufacruring facility

17. Description

Architectural Clusification

LATE 19TII AND 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS

see cont:nuallon sheer! J

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register. 0

Current Functions

INDUSTRY: warehouse

INDUSTRY: manufacruring facility

Material.
10undation,_~L",!im"""e~st",o",ne,,- _

Concrete
walls ~B21n",·c"k.,-- _

Limestone
Concrete
Terra Cotta

rool --"U"'n"'kn"'o"''''lll'-- _

other _

see continuatIOn sheet [ ]
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IS.Slatement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

[ x1A Property is associated with events thai have made asignificant contribution
to the broad patterns of our history

{ ]8 Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

[ x1C Property embodies the cislinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method
of construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction

[ 10 Property has yielded, or is likely 10 yield, information important in prehistory
or history.

Criteria Considerations

Property is:

[1A owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.

[ JB removed from Its anginal location

[I C a birthplace or grave.

[lOa cemelery

[1E a reconstructed building, ooject, or structure

( JF a commemoralive property.

[1G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years

Narrative Slatement of Significance
(Explain the Significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

19. Major Bibliographic References

Areas of Significance

ARCHITECTURE
INDUSTRY

Periods of Significance

1904 to 1954

Significsnt Oatee

1904
1905
1906
1912
1918
1920

Significant Person(s)
nla

Cultural Affiliation
nla

ArchilectlBuilder
Maman. Russell & Garden/architect
Maman. Russell & Crowell/architect
Barnett Tom P. & Company/architect

Bibliography
(Cite the books, articles and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documenlation on file (NPS):

[ 1preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested

[ 1previously listed In the National Register

( Jpreviously deterrmned eligible by the National Register

[ Idesigrlated a National Histone landmark

[ 1recorded by HistoriC Ameflcan BUildings Survey

#_-----------_._--
! I recorded by Hlstonc American Engineering Record

#'--------------------

Primary location of addffional data:

[xl State Historic Preservation Office

[ IOther Slale Agency

[ I Federal Agency

[ J local Government

[ JUniversity

[ IOther

Name ofreposllory _
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!10.Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 2.870 acres

UTM References

A.Zone
15

C.Zone

Easting
744 760
Easting

Northing
4277 880
Northing

B.Zone

D.Zone

Easting

Easting

Northing

Northing

[ JSee continuation sheel

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explam why jhe boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

111. Form Prepared By

nameititle__~M=al!tth!l'e52W~B!li\l:J'e"n",slR""e",s",ear""chwer<L _

organization Landmarks Association of St. Louis

street &number 917 Locust Street. 7th floor

date _",Jtul"""e...2",,3......2"'0"'04"- _

telephone_----lC3"'1"'4:,Ll,",42",1c:-6",4!.17-,!4 _

city or town__i2'St,,-.hLQ!ou!!!i~s state._---'M~O'__ zip code 6310 1

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps

A USGS map (7 5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's localton

A Sketch map for histOriC districts and proper1les having large acreage or numerous resources

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property

Additional Items
(Check wHh the SHPO or FPO for any additional Items)

Property Owner
(Complete thiS Item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name see owners section page 23

street &number telephone

city or town' state, zip code, _
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Summary

I Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company
51. Louis [Independent City], Missouri

The Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company, a historic district, is located at 104
Cedar1760 S. 2nd

• Street and 757 S. 20d Street, just south ofdowntown 51. Louis. The
seven buildings which comprise the district are within an industrial riverfront area known
as "Chouteau's Landing" although historic access to the river has been blocked by newer
industries east of the nominated properties. The square and trapezoidal-shaped
warehouse and factory buildings of five to six stories reflect Late 19th and 20th Century
Revival architectural styles. The buildings comprise all ofCity Block 42 and the
southeast quarter ofCity Block 51. The district is bounded by Cedar Street on the north,
South 20d Street on the west, Gratiot Street on the south and South 1st Street on the east.
All of the buildings were designed for the Crunden-Martin Woodenware Company
between 1904 and 1920 by two prominent St. Louis architectural firms. Six ofthe seven
buildings, designed by Mauran, Russell & Garden (and successor, Crowell) are brick
structures with flat roofs. The other building, designed by Tom P. Bamett & Company,
is ofconcrete construction with a flat roof. All seven buildings are contributing resources
and five are in excellent condition. Ofthe other two, one has exterior paint failure and
the other has a damaged cornice, but both are in good condition. All ofthe buildings are
unchanged above the first floor since their construction. Alterations such as glass blocks
and metal or wood panels covering various doors and windows are limited to the first
story and are reversible. The district retains integrity oflocation, design, setting,
materials, workmanship, feeling and association.

Exterior

The Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company is comprised of seven buildings; six are
adjoining, the seventh is attached via a four-story bridge. District buildings span design
and construction from 1904 to 1920 and were designed by two prominent local
architectural firms- Mauran, Russell & Garden (and successor, Crowell) and Tom P.
Bamett & Company. All buildings (except for one) are identified with painted lettering
"CRUNDEN MARTIN MFG. CO." just below the cornice. For purposes of this
nomination, buildings are numbered in order of construction (see site map on page 2).
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Figure 1: Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company site plan
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Architects'
M, R, G = Mauran, Russell & Garden
M, R, C = Mauran, Russell & Crowell
T.P.B. =Tom P. Barnett & Co.
(Contractors)
E.W. =Edward Ward
JAG. = James A Godfrey & Co.
G.C. =Gamble Can. Co.

Gratiot St.

Building #1, a five-story red brick trapezoidal-shaped factory, was designed (and
completed) in 1904 by Mauran, Russell & Garden; interior mill construction consists of
wooden plank and beam (photo 1). Exposed exterior elevations are at the north and east.
The original recessed entrance, a wooden double-door on the north elevation, remains
intact and bears its original address plate; a single light above double panels remains
intact on each door. A second, wider recessed entrance has been partially boarded to
decrease the size of the opening; this alteration is reversible. Above, within the recessed
opening, are two rows originally containing three six-light with industrial sashes; four are
intact and two openings have vents. Original sheet iron wraps the lower base of the
building; a simple metal molding crowns the top. A corbelled cornice wraps the building
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just above the first story. The second through the fifth stories have double-hung six-over­
six light with soldier arches and metal sills (two windows on the second story, four on the
third, six on the fourth and four on the fifth). Windows at the northeast corner have
access to a wrought iron fire escape. An overhanging terra cotta cornice supported on
corbelled brick crowns the building.

The east elevation ofbuilding #1 originally functioned as the loading and unloading area;
first by rail, and much later by trucks (photo 1, left side). This elevation retains its
numerous loading docks; three docks have frame additions sheathed in metal panels.
Three multi-light recessed windows complete the first story. Just above the first story
corbelled cornice are eight double-hung six-over-six lights with soldier arches and metal
sills Windows at the third through the fifth stories are between brick pilasters capped
with stylized, square-paneled capitals (nineteen windows at the third and fourth stories,
eighteen at the fifth). Stepped brick above the fifth story windows, coupled with the
capitals, almost acts as a running ornament. The overhanging terra cotta cornice
supported on corbelled brick continues on this elevation to a later building. Above the
first story the building remains unchanged, except a portion of the cornice is damaged.

Building #2, a six-story red brick rectangular-shaped warehouse, was designed (and
completed) in 1905 by Mauran, Russell & Garden; it is the largest single building
constructed for the company (photo 2). Again, interior mill construction consists of
wooden plank and beam. Exposed exterior elevations are at the west and south; fayade
treatment is identical to the eastern elevation ofbuilding #1. The west elevation bears the
contemporary main entrance at 760 S 2nd Street; double glass doors surrounded by glass
panels fill the recessed opening (it is unknown how the bay originally appeared). A
second, but original, double-door entrance has a single light above a single wood panel in
each door. The entrance features an intact revival-style limestone surround with
pediment bearing a faint, yet legible, "Crunden Martin Mfg. Co." heading on a limestone
lintel. Historic alterations (from an unknown date) in the form of glass and stone block
and a marquee are intact. Four additional large bays (framed with cast and wrought iron
beams with ornamental panels) and one small recessed bay on the west elevation are
filled in with composite panels; these alterations are reversible. A corbelled cornice
wraps the building just above the first story and continues to the south elevation. The
second through the sixth stories contain double-hung six-over-six lights with soldier
arches and metal sills (twelve windows at the second story and ten at the third through the
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sixth). An overhanging terra cotta cornice supported on corbelled brick crowns the
building. The building comers are accented with rounded brick.

The first story of the south elevation ofbuilding #2 contains twelve wide recessed bays
framed with cast and wrought iron beams with ornamental panels (photo 2, right side).
Most of these bays are filled in with glass block and/or metal panels. Three additional
narrow window bays and one door have been boarded or glass blocked; alterations are
reversible. The corbelled cornice continues around the building just above the first story.
Six-over-six double-hung windows at the second through the sixth stories are between
brick pilasters capped with stylized, square-paneled capitals (twenty-eight windows with
soldier arches and metal sills are at each story). Stepped brick above the sixth story
windows, coupled with the capitals, almost acts as a running ornament. The overhanging
terra cotta cornice supported on corbelled brick continues on this elevation to building #3.
Iron fire escapes are at each end of the southern elevation and are accessible from
windows. The north elevation, overlooking the inner courtyard (original railroad access),
has two enclosed wooden pedestrian bridges from the third through the fifth stories
attached to building #4. Above the first story the building remains unchanged.

Building #2 is connected to building #5 at the west of the nominated complex via a four­
story bridge located above the first story. The concrete and steel bridge was constructed
in 1912 and designed by Mauran, Russell & Crowell; wood siding is intact in addition to
four four-light industrial sash windows at each floor on either side. (photo 3, right side)
"CRUNDEN MARTIN MFG. CO." is painted on the bridge at both sides.

Building #3, a six-story red brick trapezoidal-shaped warehouse, was designed (and
completed) in 1906 by Mauran, Russell & Garden; interior mill construction consists of
wooden plank and beam (photo 4). Exposed exterior elevations are at the south and east.
The south elevation of the building is identical in design to building #2, designed a year
before (visible in photo 2, building 3 is at far right). Five first-story loading bays (framed
with cast and wrought iron beams with ornamental panels) have a variety of recessed
multi-light and door openings; some have been paneled or bricked-in (alterations are
reversible). A boarded recessed door and two six-over-six windows with metal sills
complete the first story. The corbelled cornice around building #2 continues on building
#3 above the first story and wraps the building to the east elevation. Above, architectural
detail and window placement is identical to building #2. Six-over-six double-hung
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windows at the second through the sixth stories are between brick pilasters capped with
stylized, square-paneled capitals (thirteen windows with soldier arches and metal sills are
at each story). Stepped brick above the sixth story windows, coupled with the capitals,
almost acts as a running ornament. The overhanging terra cotta cornice supported on
corbelled brick continues on this elevation and continues to the far eastern end. Above
the first story the building remains unchanged.

Prior to the construction ofbuilding #3, railroad tracks led cargo trains to an inner
courtyard in the center of the city block via the eastern elevation to facilitate the
loading/unloading offi-eight (see site map on page 2 and photo 7). When completed in
1906, the eastern elevation of the new building provided a tunnel entrance sheltered
under a concrete ceiling. Although the railroad tracks have been covered over with
concrete and a new loading dock has been poured in place at the rear of the building, the
courtyard is intact and all buildings are open to it at the first story. The corbelled cornice
(continued from the south elevation) stops just above the tunnel entrance; the cornice
picks up again at building #1. The second through the sixth stories contain six (two sets
of three) six-over-six double-hung windows with soldier arches and metal sills per floor.
Windows at the northeast portion are in a slightly recessed bay topped with a terra cotta
pediment parapet; a scrolled oval terra cotta medallion bears "eM" and"1907" centered
just below. The overhanging terra cotta cornice supported on corbelled brick continues
on this elevation and breaks only slightly above the cornice ofbuilding #1. Above the
first story the building remains unchanged (photo 4).

Building #4, a five-story red brick square-shaped factory, was designed in 1907 by
Mauran, Russell & Garden; interior mill construction consists ofwooden plank and beam
(photo 5, right side and photo 3, third from left). The exposed exterior elevation is facing
north. An intact recessed entrance bay with a soldier arch at the western end of the
building contains a door with four-light transom reached by iron steps. At the left of the
entrance are wood panels; above is a twenty-light fixed industrial sash window. Above
this portion are two multi-light fixed transoms divided by wood framing. Six recessed
loading bays have multi-light double doors with sidelights and transoms; two bays have
been boarded, one has a contemporary metal garage door. The second through the fifth
stories contain paired and tripled one-over-one double-hung windows with soldier arches
surrounded by a brickwork frame made of a continuous soldier course; a square
medallion is at each lower comer of the frame. Within the frame, brick pilasters divide
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the windows (seven groups per floor amounting to nineteen windows each floor); stylized
square brick capitals top each pilaster. An overhanging terra cotta cornice supported on
corbelled brick crowns the fa~ade. The south elevation, overlooking the inner courtyard
(original railroad access), has two enclosed wooden pedestrian bridges from the third
through the fifth stories attached to building #2. Except for wood boards covering some
windows, the building above the first story remains unchanged.

Building #5, a six-story brick rectangular-shaped warehouse, was designed (and
completed) in 1912 by Mauran, Russell and Crowell; interior mill construction consists
ofwooden plank and beam (photo 9). Primary elevations face south and east; elevations
are identical in design to building #2. Building #5 is connected to the main complex
(through building #2 to the east) via the 1912 four-story bridge located above the second
story; the bridge continues to the sixth story. The first story ofthe east elevation contains
six wide bays with tripled six-over-six double-hung windows; one bay contains an
entrance surrounded by multi-lights and a transom above. At basement level the bays
contain a pair of single-lights. A seventh bay contains a single, narrow six-over-six
double-hung window. A corbelled cornice wraps the building just above the first story
and continues to the south elevation. Windows at the second through the sixth stories are
double-hung six-over-six with soldier arches and metal sills (twelve windows are at the
second through the sixth stories; four additional windows are at the half-story between
the second and sixth stories); windows are between brick pilasters capped with stylized,
square-paneled capitals. An overhanging terra cotta cornice supported on corbelled brick
crowns the building. A half-story projects above the building at the northeast side. The
building comers are accented with rounded brick.

The south elevation of building #5 contains five wide bays; two have tripled six-over-six
double-hung windows, two have bricked-in portions and one has a pair of six-over-six
double-hung with brick in between. At the basement level each bay contains a pair of
single-lights. The corbelled cornice, from the east elevation, wraps the building just
above the first story. Windows at the second through the sixth stories are double-hung
two-over-two and six-over-six with soldier arches and metal sills (nine windows are at
the second, eight are at the third through the sixth); windows are between brick pilasters
capped with stylized, square-paneled capitals. An overhanging terra cotta cornice
supported on corbelled brick crowns the building. Iron fire escapes at the southwest
comer are accessible from windows at the second through sixth stories. The building
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corners are accented with rounded brick. Above the first story the building remains
unchanged (photo 9).

The north elevation is a blank wall of brick with no fenestration. A half-story (visible at
the east elevation) extends above the building. The west elevation contains two wide
garage doors and two rear entrances at the first story. The second story contains three
pairs and one single double-hung two-over-two windows with soldier arches and metal
sills. The third through the fifth stories contain thirteen similar windows; the sixth
contains fourteen.

Building #6, a five-story concrete frame and red brick trapezoid-shaped warehouse, was
designed (and completed) in 1918 by Mauran, Russell & Crowell; interior concrete
construction features exposed mushroom columns (photos 3 and 5, second from left).
The exposed exterior elevation is facing north. This building replaced a 1905 one-story
factory building (Mauran, Russell and Garden) as seen second from the left in figure 1.
An attempt to integrate the new warehouse with the other complex buildings is limited to
the use of identical materials and terra cotta cornice decoration. Three bays at the first
story (under a concrete lintel) were most likely loading bays originally. The bays have
been bricked in; one has a door and a glass block window, the other two have glass block
windows. Above, three wide bays of multi-light, horizontally hinged windows are
slightly recessed within the fa~ade. The second through the fifth stories contain identical
windows. An overhanging terra cotta cornice supported on corbelled brick crowns the
fa~ade Except for the brick infill, the building above the first story remains unchanged.

Building #7, a six and seven-story square-shaped reinforced concrete warehouse, was
designed (and completed) in 1920 by Tom P. Barnett & Company; interior concrete post
and beam construction is visible (photo 3, foreground). Exposed exterior elevations face
north and west. This building was the last built for the Crunden-Martin Company and is
also the most different in style and materials. Functional and decorative, a one-and-one­
half-story crenelated tower rises above the northwest comer of the building. Seven
tripartite bays containing multi-light horizontal-hinged windows with concrete sills (some
bays contain a door leading to a balcony) fill the first through the sixth stories on the
north elevation (nineteen individual windows and two doors per story from two to six, the
first story contains twenty-one individual windows). The west elevation contains six
tripartite and one four-paneled window bays per story (except the first); windows are
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identical as described except that they are much wider than the ones at the north
elevation. Some ofthe windows have been filled in with glass block. At the far
southwest end of the building a garage door allows access inside; a concrete loading ramp
is also at this elevation. The tower contains two multi-light horizontal-hinged windows
per elevation. Concrete pilasters with steps above the first, third and fifth stories ofboth
elevations extend from the ground up to the roof and tower; the pilasters separate the
windows into their tripartite configurations. Pairs of slender vertical concrete columns,
also with steps, rise between the windows within the pilaster frames. The roofline is
crenelated. Except for the glass block infill, the building remains unchanged; a previous
paint application has failed and is almost entirely gone.

Interior

The interiors of the six buildings of the Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company are
much today as originally designed (and completed) as factories and warehouses from
1904 to 1920. Structural systems and framing, either wood or concrete, are exposed and
in excellent condition (some are painted). The use of brick in the older buildings (mostly
painted) is complemented by the rich dark wood floors. Notable interior features include:
several wide segmental arched brick openings with heavy sliding iron doors (photo 6);
the inner courtyard railroad access (photo 7), although the tracks have been covered and a
later roofwas installed over the opening; and the original concrete tunnel beneath the
railroad tracks (entered through the basement of building #s 1 and 3). Spaces on the first
story are currently used for storage; floors above the first story are empty. Photo 6 shows
typical interior space of mill constructed buildings (this is building #2). Photo 8 shows
typical interior space ofconcrete constructed buildings (this is building #7). A two-story
vault safe is located on the basement and first story; the original gilded and painted door
is intact.

Integrity

The Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company buildings remain substantially unchanged
since their construction. Minor alterations limited to the first story of individual
buildings, in the form of boarded windows and doors, glass block and bricked in window
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bays, are reversible and do not detract from their architectural or industrial significance.
Most ofthe buildings are in excellent condition; one building has exterior paint failure
and one has a damaged cornice, but both are in good condition. The buildings retain
integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association.
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10 Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company
St. Louis [Independent City], Missouri

The Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company, located just south ofdowntown S1.
Louis, is eligible for National Register listing under Criterion A for INDUSTRY and
Criterion C for ARCIDTECTURE in the local level of significance. Seven buildings,
designed from 1904 to 1920 by prominent S1. Louis firms Mauran, Russell & Garden
(and successor, Crowell) and Tom P. Barnett & Company, became the final home of the
Crunden-Martin Woodenware Company (later Crunden-Martin Mfg. Company).
Crunden-Martin steadily developed into one ofthe more important and successful
woodenware, willow wear and metal-goods industries of the city between 1891 and 1990;
second only to the Samuel Cupples Woodenware Company. By 1924, Crunden-Martin
was the only woodenware firm represented in the Merchant's Exchange of S1. Louis.
During WWII, Crunden-Martin manufactured helmets, stoves, buckets and five-gallon
gasoline 'jerry cans' for the U. S. military; the company was one oftwo S1. Louis
companies to make helmets and the only one to manufacture 'jerry cans.' 1 The
succession offactory and warehouse buildings attests to their industrial success; the
ability to obtain designs from such notable architectural firms certifies their force in S1.
Louis industry. This elegant and intact seven building complex contains the last
remaining examples associated with Crunden-Martin; the buildings are superior examples
of the two firm's earliest local industrial work.2 The nominated buildings are part of a
larger survey entitled "Chouteau's Landing.',;) Each building retains excellent integrity,
with alterations limited to the first story. The period of significance spans 1904, when
the first company building was constructed, to 1954, the arbitrary 50-year cut-off.

I Betty Burnett St. Louis at War: The Story ofa City, 1941-45. (St Louis: Patrice Press, 1987). The other
company to manufacture helmets made them solely for the Army. Cronden-Marrin's competitor, Samuel
Cupples, manufactured only tire tubes for the war.
2 E"1ensive research has sho\\lJ, thus far, that these buildings are the first knonn factory/warehouse designs
by Maur:m, Russell & Garden (and successor, Crowell). The building by Tom P. Barnett & Company is
the second known, the first was demolished in the 1940s; this is now the earliest extant factol)-/warehousc.

] The "Chouteau's Landing" survey was submitted to the Missouri Department ofNaturaI Resources
Historic Preservation Program in 1993 by Landmarks Association of 51. Louis. No alterations. additions or
demolitions have taken place in the complex since then.



NPS Form 1Cl-90Cl-a
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

OMB No.1 024-0018

Section _8_ Page

Background

11 Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company
St. Louis [Independent City], Missouri

The St. Louis riverfront, site of the earliest commercial activity in the city, was once a
vital part of the city's economy. Businesses and industries lined the St. Louis wharf since
the mid 19th century; many remain north and south of the Arch, however few actually
take advantage of the river today. Although the nature of some ofthese companies has
changed over the years, the riverfront industrial strips remained important connecting
links in both the city's history and its industrial life. Geographically, the riverfront area
south of downtown (known as "Chouteau's Landing") was perfect for rapid development.
Proximity to the riverfront was essential to shipping in a period before mass overland
travel was possible or economical. Later, the Iron Mountain Railroad, with tracks and a
depot within the immediate area, assured the continual success oflocal industries in the
periods to follow through reduced costs and rapid turnover ofgoods. As early as 1882,
the S1. Louis riverfront became the nation's chiefdistribution point ofwooden and
willow wares. An account from the period states:

The wood and willow wear trade of St. Louis gives her an ascendancy
over every other city, not only in America, but in the whole world. This is
not only the ruling wood and willow wear market of the country, but here
the prices are made for every other city from the Atlantic to the Pacific Ocean. 4

The woodenware trade included an extensive variety ofarticles including buckets, casks,
tubs, ladles, bread bowls and other household utensils. Willow ware included baskets
and other articles. With the rising local industry came associated cordage, rope, brooms,
wrapping paper, paper bags, stove polish and axle grease. From 1899 to 1902 the
average amount of annual sales varied between eight and nine million dollars. 5 Only two
local woodenware and willow ware companies provided the majority of these sales: the
Samuel Cupples Woodenware Co. (Cupples Station Warehouse District, NR 6-26-1998)
and the Crunden-Martin Woodenware Co. (and predecessor Udell & Crunden)6

4 Year Book ofthe Commercial, Banking, andManufacturing Interests ofSt. Louis. (St. Louis: Nixon­
Jones Printing Co., 1882-83), pg. 230.
'E. D. Kargau. Mercantile, Industrial and Professional St. Louis. (St. Louis: Nixon-Jones Printing Co.,
1902). pg. 264.
6 Gould's St. Louis City Directory lists only Cupples and Udell & Crunden under Woodenware and Willow
Wear from 1890 to 1891 (Crunden-Martin appeared in 1891), by 1904 a third finn Wm. Rattan & Hoke
Willow ware Co. appeared.
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Elaboration: Industry and Architecture

St. Louis native Frank Payne Crunden entered the woodenware business with Udell,
Schmieding and Company in 1876 and by 1884 formed the partnership ofUdell &
Crunden. Charles Landen Martin was born in Maquoketa, Iowa in 1858 and moved to St.
Louis with his family shortly thereafter. He worked for ten years with the Samuel
Cupples Woodenware Company (incorporated in 1882 with $2,000,000 capital) until he
organized the Martin Wooden Ware Company early in 1891. Crunden and Martin
merged their woodenware businesses as the Crunden-Martin Woodenware Company and
incorporated later that year with a combined capital of$I,200,000. With Crunden as
president, Martin as vice-president and Theophilus Conzelman (who entered the
company in 1892) as second vice-president, the company soon outgrew a succession of
three small central riverfront buildings (all later demolished for the Jefferson National
Expansion Memorial site) before settling down at its final St. Louis home. The new
buildings would eventually cover an entire city block and additional parcel bounded by
1st and 3rd, Gratiot and Cedar Streets, immediately south on the riverfront from
downtown St. Louis (figure 2, page 15).

Crunden,7 Martin8 and Conzelman,9 listed in Gould's St. Louis Blue Book (a list of the
city's most prominent citizens), were closely allied throughout their lives as associates
and owners of several businesses: the Crunden-Martin Woodenware Company (later
Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company), the Conzelman-Crunden Realty Company,
the Bowman Stamping Company (Crunden, president; Martin, vice- president) and the
Swayzee Glass Company (Crunden, president; Martin, treasurer)- all within the
nominated complex.

St. Louis native, Theophilus Conzelman, began business in real estate with Cavender &
Rowe before managing his own private real estate interests for several years- an estate
worth almost $1 million at his death in 1928. He entered business with the Crunden-

Born in 1859, died 1931. Member of the St Louis Club, Noonday Club. St Louis Amateur Athletic
Association, Committee of the St. Louis Artists' Guild.
S Died in 1922. Member of the Mercantile Club, Missouri Athletic Association, the Bellerive Club.
Algonquin Club, City Club and the Noonday Club. Also President of the Bank of Webster Groves.
9 Born in 1858. Son of Gottlieb Conzelman, founder of the Manual Training School and Smith Academy
in St. Louis. Member of the Mercantile Club, Belleview Country Club, the Missouri Athletic Association.
Missoun Historical Society. the Congressional Club of Washington, D. C, and the Brentwood Club of Los
Angeles
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Martin Woodenware Company in 1892. Conzelman was the capitalist (and later
president) behind the Conzelman-Crunden Realty Company, a company exclusively
formed to negotiate realty and building matters for Crunden-Martin. Incorporated in
Missouri in 1903 with a capital of$400,000, Conzelman-Crunden aPPcears to have kept a
low profile and was not listed in the realty section of city directories. 0

In mid-1904, the Conzelman-Crunden Realty Company began to acquire large lots on
city block 42 on the riverfront just south of downtown S1. Louis. By September 1904, the
company commissioned the young, yet already prominent St. Louis architectural firm of
Mauran, Russell & Garden to design the first of seven buildings for the Crunden-Martin
Woodenware Company. This first five-story brick factory (building #1) cost $52,000;
Edward Ward was the contractor. The firm ofMauran, Russell & Garden was organized
in 1900 with members John Lawrence Mauran (1866-1933), FAIA; Ernest J. Russell
(1870-1956), AlA; and Edward G. Garden (1871-1924), FAIA. Mauran studied
architecture at MIT under Eugene Letange from L'Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris. 11 After
graduating in 1889, he entered the Boston office of Shepley, Rutan & Coolidge
(successors ofR. H. Richardson). Two years later he represented the f!fm in Chicago
where he worked on the Chicago Art Institute and the Chicago Public Library until 1893
when he joined the S1. Louis office as a resident partner. London-born Russell came to
S1. Louis in 1896 and later worked with a Colorado architectural firm. Canadian-born
Garden moved to St. Louis in the 1890s and worked with Shepley, Rutan & Coolidge
from 1892 to 190012 The firm had already established themselves by their fine
residential, institutional, religious and commercial designs. Research thus far has shown
that this 1904 Crunden-Martin factory (and the ones to follow) is the earliest known. 13

Combining sophisticated Classical Revival detailing (undoubtedly influenced by their
exquisite residential and commercial designs) with a utilitarian box, the firm established a
unique style that departed from the generally spare factory buildings in the immediate
industrial area. 14 This first factory, with its attractive corbelled brick and terra cotta
cornice, its unifying corbelled belt course, its stepped-back window ornament and its

10 Originally Crunden was president ofboth companies, Martin was vice-president of CoM and secretary of
C-C, Conzelman was second vice-president of CoM and secretary-treasurer of CoCo
11 It was during the tenure of Professor Letange that the prominence of the institution was established.
12 Architect files in Landmarks collection, Missouri Historical Society, SI. Louis Public Library, AlA.
13 ibid. And additional research by David Simmons, 1997.
14 The area mentioned is the survey boundaries of"Chouteau's Landing."
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ornate pilasters, would set the precedent for the design of the later buildings designed for
Crunden-Martin. After the completion of the building, a spur-line connected the factory
to the Iron Mountain Railroad. This spur-line eliminated drayage, ensured rapid turnover
of goods and provided general convenience for workers and customers alike.

Originally manufacturers ofwoodenware and willow ware articles, Crunden-Martin soon
extended their production to be a diverse manufacturer and jobber oftoys, furniture
specialties, baby carriages, go karts and refrigerators; the company also became the sole
manufacturer of "Diamond" paper bags. Is With an expansion ofgoods and the extension
of the company's trade relations, Crunden-Martin steadily developed into one of the
city's more important and successful productive industries, second only to the Samuel
Cupples Woodenware Company (St. Louis), the largest such company in the nation. 16

An immediate need for more production and warehouse space led the COll2elman­
Crunden Realty Company to commission Mauran, Russell & Garden (Edward Ward,
contractor) to design three additional buildings over the next three years: one six-story
brick warehouse in February of 1905 (building #2, costing $154,000) and one in
November of 1906 (building #3, costing $94,000) and a five-story factory (building #4,
costing $40,000) in June of 1907. The 1904 factory influenced each of these buildings;
the elegant Classical Revival detailing prevailed.

Five years later the company needed an additional warehouse. COll2elman-Crunden
Realty returned to its preferred architectural firm (now known as Mauran, Russell &
Crowell) for the first of two building commissions. The firm ofMauran, Russell &
Crowell was created when architect Edward Garden moved to San Francisco in 1911.
The first was a six-story brick warehouse (building #5, costing $105,000, Edward Ward
was the contractor) on an adjacent city block to the west, in July of 1912. A four-story
bridge (1912; Mauran, Russell & Crowell and contractor Edward Ward) joined building
#5 to building #2 of the main company complex to the east. The presence of the complex
dominated most of the city block (see figure 2, page 15).

" C-M lists croquet, hammocks, lawn swings, ladders, window screens, doors, wire, lawn chairs &
mowers, fishing tackle, loaded shells, shot & powder, curtain stretchers, wash machines, wringers, fruit
jars, fruit cans, jelly glasses, fly paper, roach & fly traps, tinware and granite ware in a Spring 1899
catalogue.
16 Walter B. Stevens. Centennial History ofMissouri: 100 Years in the Union, 1820-1921. (SI. Louis: S. J.
Clarke Publishing Company, 1921). And "Cupples Station Warehouse District," NR 6-26-1998
Landmarks Association.
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In May ()f 1918, Conzelman-Crunden commissioned a second building by Mauran,
Russell & Crowell- a five-story concrete warehouse (building #6, costing $50,000);
James A. Godfrey was the contractor. This new building replaced a one-story factory
addition (for galvanizing metal) built in July of 1905 (Mauran, Russell & Garden). After
adding galvanized metal products to their repertoire in 1905, Crunden-Martin created the
Bowman Stamping Company to oversee production. Bowman was originally housed in
the one-story 1905 building and building #4 (both seen in figure 2 below).

Figure 2: Circa 1915 view ofCrunden-Martin Manufacturing Company. Business letter.

Known for his civil-mindedness, Crunden-Martin President, Frank P. Crunden, was quite
active in St. Louis affairs, advancement of the local arts and the beautification of the city.
Concerned for the welfare of neighborhood children, Crunden replaced several
abandoned buildings on the northwest comer ofthe company's city block in 1907 with a
playground; leasing the site to the city for five dollars a year provided for its continual
maintenance. 17 Playground attendance rose from about 150 to a few thousand by 1908
according to the St. Louis Republic.18 Crunden even provided baths and showers for the
children as well as an empty hall on an adjacent block for their use when it rained. Over
the next ten years, the residential aspect of the district yielded to the continued growth of
local industries; there was no longer a use for the playground and it soon became vacant.

17 n,e "Second Street Playground" was even mentioned in a 1911 edition ofRealtv Record & Builder.
18 Sf Louis Republic. 12-27-1908. .
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The Conzelman-Crunden Realty Company commissioned the prominent Tom P. Barnett
& Company to design the final building of the Crunden-Martin Woodenware Company, a
six-story concrete warehouse (building #7, costing $245,000) in 1920 on this remaining
vacant lot. Tom P. Barnett (1870-1929, AlA), son ofnoted architect George I. Barnett,
was born in St. Louis in 1870. He attended primary schools and college in St. Louis.
Noted for his extensive talents as an artist and designer, he joined his brother George D.,
John Haynes and his nephew George H. in the firm ofBarnett, Haynes & Barnett. The
firm designed many notable buildings including the St. Louis Cathedral (1907-14, City
Landmark 1973), the Visitation Convent (1891, razed 1962) and the Post-Dispatch
Building (1917, NR 2000). In 1912, Tom withdrew from the firm to form Tom P.
Barnett & Company. The company designed the Arcade Building (1916, City Landmark
1979, NR 2003), the Busch Memorial Chapel, buildings in Dallas, University City and
Webster Groves, Missouri. District building #7, built in 1920, is the firm's second
known warehouse/factory building; its style and handling of materials was unlike
anything the firm had done up to that point in their religious, commercial, residential and
other work. 19 Combining crenelated elements with a utilitarian factory design, this six­
story concrete warehouse (with tower) is a unique example of the firm's earliest
industrial work.

Walter Crunden became president ofCrunden-Martin after his father's death in 1931.20

Following graduation from Yale, Walter joined the company as a salesman in 1910. He
worked up through the ranks from buyer, to vice-president and sales manager. Walter
remained president until his death in February 1940 when Arthur S. Kendall21 (the first
vice president at the time) was elected. Kendall spent his entire business career with
Crunden-Martin from 1915 (except for a one-year service in the Army during WWl) until
retiring in 1987 as chairman ofthe board.

During the 1940s, Crunden-Martin employed 500 people in a 500,000 square foot plant.
At this time the company discontinued their woodenware and willow wear manufacturing

19 The second known factoI)', designed in 1916 for the Blanton Mfg. Co. was demolished for the Jefferson
EX"jlansion Memorial downtown. Sources for building records come from Landmarks Association files,
AlA. Missouri Historical Society, St. Louis Public Libraty and David Simmons, independent researcher.
20 Walter also served as president and chairman of the board of the Central States Life Insurance Company
(of which his father was chairman at the time of his death).
21 Until the 1930s the company suffered greatly whenever the Mississippi River flooded. Arthur Kendall, a
member of the St. Louis Flood Control Association. pushed for the construction of the present city's flood
wall 10 prolect nearby industries and homes. St. Louis Post-Dispatch. 6-21-1993, pg. 6A. He died in 1993.
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in favor offabricating metal and galvanized goods (such as trash cans and glazed enamel
kitchenware) in addition to fiber, cotton and rubber products. During WWII, the
company manufactured helmets, stoves, buckets and five-gallon gasoline 'jerry cans' for
the U. S. military; the company was one of only two St. Louis companies to make
helmets and the only one to manufacture 'jerry cans' for the war effort.22 The 1950s
brought continued prosperity in metal products manufacturing.

Classified as a "diversified manufacturer" and a manufacturers' agent covering the
continental USA in Sorkins' Directory ofBusiness (1985), Crunden-Martin filled a
voluntary Chapter II bankruptcy petition in June I99Q-just before celebrating its IOOth
birthday. Listing assets of$9.8 million and liabilities of$8.6 million, reorganization
failed and the local plant was closed. The company buildings were sold at a bank-related
real estate auction two years later for $90,000, or eighteen cents a square foot. The
company last manufactured bags (lunch and freezer), galvanized ware, "Man-in-the
Moon" kites (being one ofthe few companies left that still made paper kites) and paper
school supplies. The new owner contemplates a revived space offering residential, retail
and commercial possibilities.

The nominated district represents the last remaining buildings associated with Crunden­
Martin by the prominent local firms ofMauran, Russell & Garden (and successor,
Crowell) and Tom P. Barnett & Company. According to the thorough architectural
survey of "Chouteau's Landing," the nominated buildings are the only ones representing
the architectural firms in the survey area, in addition they were also executed in an
elegant style quite different from the other industrial buildings in the area. Extensive
research has also shown that these buildings are the earliest known extant local factories
and warehouses by each firm. Research has been done on the two firm's residential,
commercial, religious, business and related buildings. Further research is needed
regarding industrial work; this research may shed more light on these attractive buildings.

"Betty Burnett St. Louis at War: The Story ofa City, 1941-45. (St Louis: Patrice Press. 1987). Early in
WWII, the Allies used cylindrical metal gas cans to move fuel. These cans were prone to bursting at the
seams in hot weather because there was no room for expansion at their flat tops. The handles were smaIl,
and difficult to use. Fuel losses during shipment were very high, and the Nonh African desert campaigo
was going poorly. due to lack of fuel. The Germans, or "Jerry" as the allies sometimes referred to them,
dido~ have this problem, because they used a rectangolar gas can that had an expansion area at the top.
Rectangles take up less room than circles, and the Germans could ship more fuel with less loss than the
Allies. A three-bar desigo on top made for easy "fire brigade" hand-to-hand movement Jerry cans were
made in the United States to aid in the war effort, Crunden-Martin was the ouly local manufacturer.
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Chouteau's Landing Survey

In 1988, Landmarks Association surveyed a riverfront commercial/industrial area known
as "Chouteau's Landing" between downtown St. Louis and the Soulard neighborhood;
the total acreage approximately 110 square acres. The survey was submitted to the
Department ofNatural Resources in 1993 and reviewed on October 5th of that year. The
survey yielded important information on St. Louis' early commercial/industrial history; it
was Phase I of a multipart program to identifY and document such local industrial
districts along the city's riverfront. Unlike Laclede's Landing to the north of downtown
(became obsolete due to reliance on river transportation), Chouteau's Landing (utilized
river and rail via the Iron Mountain RR) was still in use during the survey and is still in
use today. Information gathered in the survey provided a model for further research on
other related areas; the survey led to additional surveys and the eventual National
Register listing of the North Riverfront Industrial District on May 1, 2003.

Much of the character ofChouteau's Landing has not changed in the last 100 years. The
survey found that large businesses like Crunden-Martin and Glidden set up longtime
operations in manufacturing and wholesaling; the companies acquired whole city blocks
for their businesses. The architecture of the survey area varies in age and style; but is
linked in utilitarianism. The Crunden-Martin complex was noted in the survey to be
"elegantly designed" in comparison to the majority of the building stock. These
Crunden-Martin buildings and very few others in the survey area have a character and
style uniquely their own (apart from their primary functions). Today, many buildings
have been demolished. The Crunden-Martin complex could act as a core for a
Chouteau's Landing Historic District nomination in the future.
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Boundary Description

Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company
51. Louis [Independent City], Missouri

The boundary ofthe nominated property, a historic district known as the Crunden-Martin
Manufacturing Company, is indicated by a dashed line on the accompanying map
entitled, "Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company Boundary Map." The property
occupies the entirety of St. Louis City Block 42 (including the addresses 104 Cedar and
760 S. 2

nd
Street), which is known by the Assessor's Office as parcel number

00420000100, and the southeast quarter ofSt. Louis City Block 51 (757 S. 20d St.),
known by the Assessor's Office as parcel number 00510000350. The six adjoining
buildings in the rectangular-shaped City Block 42 and the nearby building in City Block
51 total approximately 2.870 acres. Both blocks are part ofBrown's Survey ofOld Town
ofSt. Louis; the blocks were also surveyed by Julius Pitzman.

Boundary Justification

The nominated parcel includes all ofthe property historically associated with the
Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company.
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Crunden.-Martin Manufacturing Company District Boundary Map

Source: Sanborn Map Company, v IE, plates 52 and 68, c. 1968.
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Owners ofrecord in City of81. Louis Property Assessor's Database:

Property Address: 104 Cedar and 760 S. 2nd Streets, St Louis, MO., 63101.

Owner Information: Lazarus Realty COIp., 3063 Thombwy, St Louis, MO., 63131.

Property Address: 757 S. 2nd Street, St Louis, MO., 63101.

Owner Information: Stephen C. Murphy, 10 S. Brentwood Blvd., Suite 215, St Louis, MO., 63105.
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